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REPORT	OF	INDEPENDENT	AUDITORS	
	
	
	
The	Board	of	Directors	
New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	
	
Report	on	Financial	Statements	

We	 have	 audited	 the	 accompanying	 financial	 statements	 of	 New	 Mexico	 Educational	 Assistance	
Foundation	(the	“Foundation”)	as	of	and	for	 the	years	ended	June	30,	2014	and	2013,	and	the	related	
notes	 to	 the	 financial	 statements,	 which	 collectively	 comprise	 the	 Foundation’s	 basic	 financial	
statements	as	listed	in	the	table	of	contents.		

Management’s	Responsibility	for	the	Financial	Statements	

Management	 is	 responsible	 for	 the	 preparation	 and	 fair	 presentation	 of	 these	 financial	 statements	 in	
accordance	with	accounting	principles	generally	accepted	in	the	United	States	of	America;	this	includes	
the	 design,	 implementation,	 and	maintenance	 of	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 preparation	 and	 fair	
presentation	of	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	
error.	
	
Auditor’s	Responsibility	

Our	 responsibility	 is	 to	 express	 an	 opinion	 on	 these	 financial	 statements	 based	 on	 our	 audits.	 We	
conducted	our	audits	 in	accordance	with	auditing	standards	generally	accepted	in	the	United	States	of	
America	and	 the	 standards	applicable	 to	 financial	 audits	 contained	 in	Government	Auditing	Standards,	
issued	 by	 the	 Comptroller	 General	 of	 the	 United	 States.	 Those	 standards	 require	 that	 we	 plan	 and	
perform	the	audits	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	financial	statements	are	free	from	
material	misstatement.		
	
An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	
the	 financial	 statements.	 The	 procedures	 selected	 depend	 on	 the	 auditor’s	 judgment,	 including	 the	
assessment	of	 the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	 the	 financial	statements,	whether	due	 to	 fraud	or	
error.	 In	making	those	risk	assessments,	 the	auditor	considers	internal	control	relevant	 to	 the	entity’s	
preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	financial	statements	 	 in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	
are	 appropriate	 in	 the	 circumstances,	 but	 not	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 expressing	 an	 opinion	 on	 the	
effectiveness	 of	 the	 entity’s	 internal	 control.	 Accordingly,	 we	 express	 no	 such	 opinion.	 An	 audit	 also	
includes	 evaluating	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 accounting	 policies	 used	 and	 the	 reasonableness	 of	
significant	accounting	estimates	made	by	management,	as	well	as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	
the	financial	statements.	
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The	Board	of	Directors	
New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	
	
	
We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	
our	audit	opinion.	
	
Opinion	

In	 our	 opinion,	 the	 financial	 statements	 referred	 to	 above	 present	 fairly,	 in	 all	material	 respects,	 the	
financial	position	of	the	Foundation	as	of	June	30,	2014	and	2013,	and	the	changes	in	financial	position	
and	 cash	 flows	 thereof	 for	 the	 years	 then	 ended	 in	 accordance	 with	 accounting	 principles	 generally	
accepted	in	the	United	States	of	America.	
	
Other	Matter	

Required	Supplementary	Information	

Accounting	principles	generally	accepted	in	the	United	States	of	America	require	that	the	management’s	
discussion	 and	 analysis	 on	 pages	 4	 through	 13	 be	 presented	 to	 supplement	 the	 basic	 financial	
statements.	Such	 information,	although	not	a	part	of	 the	basic	 financial	 statements,	 is	 required	by	 the	
Governmental	 Accounting	 Standards	 Board	 who	 considers	 it	 to	 be	 an	 essential	 part	 of	 financial	
reporting	 for	 placing	 the	 basic	 financial	 statements	 in	 an	 appropriate	 operational,	 economic,	 or	
historical	 context.	 We	 have	 applied	 certain	 limited	 procedures	 to	 the	 required	 supplementary	
information	in	accordance	with	auditing	standards	generally	accepted	in	the	United	States	of	America,	
which	 consisted	 of	 inquiries	 of	 management	 about	 the	 methods	 of	 preparing	 the	 information	 and	
comparing	 the	 information	 for	 consistency	 with	management's	 responses	 to	 our	 inquiries,	 the	 basic	
financial	 statements,	 and	 other	 knowledge	 we	 obtained	 during	 our	 audit	 of	 the	 basic	 financial	
statements.	We	 do	 not	 express	 an	 opinion	 or	 provide	 any	 assurance	 on	 the	 information	 because	 the	
limited	 procedures	 do	 not	 provide	 us	 with	 sufficient	 evidence	 to	 express	 an	 opinion	 or	 provide	 any	
assurance.	

	

Other	Information	

Our	 audit	 was	 conducted	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 forming	 opinions	 on	 the	 financial	 statements	 that	
collectively	 comprise	 the	 Foundation’s	 basic	 financial	 statements.	 The	 schedule	 of	 expenditures	 of	
federal	awards	as	 required	by	Office	of	Management	and	Budget	Circular	A‐133,	Audits	of	States,	Local	
Governments,	and	Non‐Profit	Organizations,	is	presented	for	purposes	of	additional	analysis	and	is	not	a	
required	part	of	the	financial	statements.		
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The	Board	of	Directors	
New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	
	
	
The	schedule	of	expenditures	of	 federal	awards	 is	 the	 responsibility	of	management	and	was	derived	
from	 and	 relates	 directly	 to	 the	 underlying	 accounting	 and	 other	 records	 used	 to	 prepare	 the	 basic	
financial	 statements.	 Such	 information	 has	 been	 subjected	 to	 the	 auditing	 procedures	 applied	 in	 the	
audit	 of	 the	 basic	 financial	 statements	 and	 certain	 additional	 procedures,	 including	 comparing	 and	
reconciling	 such	 information	directly	 to	 the	underlying	accounting	and	other	 records	used	 to	prepare	
the	basic	financial	statements	or	to	the	financial	statements	themselves,	and	other	additional	procedures	
in	 accordance	 with	 auditing	 standards	 generally	 accepted	 in	 the	 United	 States	 of	 America.	 In	 our	
opinion,	 the	 schedule	 of	 expenditures	 of	 federal	 awards	 is	 fairly	 stated,	 in	 all	 material	 respects,	 in	
relation	to	the	basic	financial	statements	as	a	whole.	

	

Other	Reporting	Required	by	Government	Auditing	Standards	

In	accordance	with	Government	Auditing	Standards,	we	have	also	issued	our	reports	dated	October	15,	
2014	on	our	consideration	of	the	Foundation’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	and	on	our	tests	
of	its	compliance	with	certain	provisions	of	laws,	regulations,	contracts,	and	grant	agreements	and	other	
matters.	 The	 purpose	 of	 that	 report	 is	 to	 describe	 the	 scope	 of	 our	 testing	 of	 internal	 control	 over	
financial	 reporting	 and	 compliance	 and	 the	 results	 of	 that	 testing,	 and	 not	 to	 provide	 an	 opinion	 on	
internal	 control	 over	 financial	 reporting	or	 on	 compliance.	That	 report	 is	 an	 integral	 part	 of	 an	 audit	
performed	in	accordance	with	Government	Auditing	Standards	in	considering	the	Foundation’s	internal	
control	over	financial	reporting	and	compliance.	

	
Albuquerque,	New	Mexico	
October	15,	2014	



NEW MEXICO EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE FOUNDATION 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 

 

- 4 - 
 

Overview 

The New Mexico Educational Assistance Foundation (the Foundation) functions as loan servicer 
to meet the financial needs of New Mexico students seeking post-secondary education.  Funding 
of student loans was achieved through underwritings of tax-exempt and taxable debt securities 
issued by the Foundation for resale primarily to institutional investors. The Foundation provides 
the following additional services: 
 

 Perkins loan servicing and coordination of accounts receivable collections on behalf of 
affiliated colleges and universities throughout the state; 

 Assessment and collection of late and legal fees on delinquent balances; 
 Statewide Outreach Plan. 

 
As of June 30, 2014, the Foundation had 154,364 loans outstanding to 47,520 current and former 
students at a total principal value, net of an allowance of doubtful accounts, of approximately 
$724.45 million. 
 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis is required supplementary information under 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement (GASB) 34.  The narrative will focus on 
changes in results of operations and financial position from the prior year, with emphasis on the 
current year.  Reasons for these changes and economic factors affecting the Foundation’s results 
will be highlighted. 
 
The topics discussed in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis, are the following: 
 

 A brief discussion of the basic financial statements, including the relationships of the 
statements to each other, and the significant differences in the information they provide; 

 Condensed financial information derived from financial statements comparing the current 
year to  prior years; 

 An analysis of the entity’s overall financial position and results of operations to assist 
users in assessing whether financial position has improved or deteriorated as a result of 
the year’s operations; 

 An analysis of significant variations between original and final budget amounts and 
between final budget amounts and actual budget results for the general fund, or its 
equivalent; 

 A description of significant capital asset and long-term debt activity during the year, 
including a discussion of commitments made for capital expenditures, changes in credit 
ratings, and debt limitations that may affect the financing of planned facilities or services; 

 A description of currently known facts, decisions, or conditions that are expected to have 
a significant effect on financial position or results of operations. 
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I. Brief Discussion of Financial Statements 
 

The financial statements presented herein are the following: 
 
 Statement of Net Position; 
 Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position; 
 Statement of Cash Flows. 

 
The Statement of Net Position summarizes the Foundation’s financial position as of the end of the 
fiscal year.  It describes the various classifications of assets, liabilities and the residual net 
position.  This Statement is distinguished from the other two in that it provides a snapshot of 
account balances at a particular point in time, as opposed to an accumulation of activity during 
the period. 

 
The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position illustrate the Foundation’s 
inflows and outflows of financial resources during the year.  The accrual of revenue and expense 
items during the year will affect the year-end balances on the Statement of Net Position.  The 
increase or decrease in net position computed on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Position is added to or subtracted from the beginning net position on the 
Statement of Net Position to yield ending net position as of the report date. 

 
The Statement of Cash Flows lists the sources and uses of cash during the year, using the direct 
method.  The Statement itemizes the changes in the balance of cash and equivalents from the 
beginning of the year to year-end.  The inflows and outflows of cash during the year help explain 
the change in the balances of assets and liabilities on the Statement of Net Position. 

 
For internal management reporting purposes the Foundation segregates financial reporting into 
two funds – the Debt Fund and the General Fund.  The Debt Fund monitors all activity and net 
position relating to the Federal Family Education Loan Program (FFELP) student loans, the 
Foundation’s alternative student loans, borrower incentive programs offered by the Foundation, 
and the outstanding debt issued to fund these programs.  The General Fund consists of 
Foundation operating costs and net position, primarily financed by an administrative allowance 
from the Debt Fund and service fees.  Presentation of the two funds discretely helps distinguish 
the primary function of the Foundation – financing guaranteed FFELP loans – from general and 
administrative operations. 

 
Under GASB Statement 34, the focus of the financial statements is on the overall entity.  
Therefore, the two funds, which do not meet the criteria for reporting as separate funds in the 
accompanying financial statements, are combined for presentation on this report.  The financial 
statements are presented in a single-column format as enterprise fund business-type activities. 

 
During 2013 the Foundation adopted GASB statements No. 63 and No. 65, which changed the 
accounting for certain bond activity.  The Foundation elected to early adopt GASB No. 65 and the 
changes in accounting related to it were applied retrospectively for all prior years presented.  
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II. Condensed Financial Information 
Condensed financial information is presented below (in thousands). 
          
         At June 30    
   

2014   2013    

2012 
(As 

Restated) 
Capital Assets  $        5,702  $        5,785  $      6,010
Student Loan Receivables & Other Assets     910,628    961,364   1,039,603
     Total Assets  $    916,330  $ 967,149  $ 1,045,613
      
Long-Term Liabilities  $    735,551  $    798,602  $    856,682
Other Liabilities       49,771       33,135        45,294
     Total Liabilities     785,322     831,737     901,976
Deferred Inflows of Resources         5,800  7,183                  -
     Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows 
       of Resources     791,122     838,920     901,976
Net Position:      
  Invested in Capital Assets         5,702         5,785        6,010
  Unrestricted       23,206       23,606        25,416

  Restricted  96,300      98,838   
 

112,211
     Total Net Position     125,208     128,229      143,637
     Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows 
       of Resources and Net Position  $    916,330  $ 967,149  $ 1,045,613
          
    Year Ended June 30  

       2014   2013  

   2012 
  (As 

Restated)  
Revenues:          
  Borrower Interest Income & Fees  $ 32,483  $      35,195  $      38,849
  Federal Subsidies       (9,834)      (9,970)       (10,401)
  Investment Revenue     (1,982)      (11,396)   17,890  
  Loan Servicing  & Other Revenue  1,055         1,186          1,581
     Total Revenues       21,722       15,015        47,919
Expenses:      
  Direct Costs (Recovery) – Federal Family 
Education  Loan Program, net  

 
     17,664  

 
     19,647   

 
     (7,699)

  Overhead Costs – Federal Family 
Education Loan Program         1,726   

  
       4,713   

 
       4,965

  Loan Servicing         5,353       6,063         13,126
     Total Expenses       24,743       30,423        10,392
      
Change in Net Position  $     (3,021)  $     (15,408)  $       37,527
      
Net Position, Beginning of the Year     128,229     143,637      106,110 
Net Position, End of the Year  $    125,208  $    128,229  $    143,637



NEW MEXICO EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE FOUNDATION 
 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 

 

- 7 - 
 

III. Analysis of Overall Financial Position and Results of Operations 
 
Analysis of Financial Position: 
 
The Foundation’s Total Assets at June 30, 2014 were just over $900 million, a decrease of 
approximately $50.8 million from the balance at June 30, 2013.  Total Assets at June 30, 
2013 were just under $1.0 billion, a decrease of approximately $78.5 million over the balance 
at June 30, 2012.  Significant (approximate) changes in Total Assets components included:  
 
 As of June 30, 2014, there was a 

reduction of $68.8 in student loans 
receivable representing a 9% decrease.  
This decrease was largely due to 
borrower payments and Direct Loan 
Consolidations with the United States 
Department of Education.  As of June 
30, 2013, there was a reduction of 
$78.2 million in student loans 
receivable representing an 8% 
decrease.  This decrease was largely 
due to Direct Loan Consolidations 
with the United States Department of 
Education during the year. 

 Borrower interest receivable and 
interest subsidy receivable decreased $1.6 million as of June 30, 2014 from the amount 
outstanding June 30, 2013 due to a reduction in the overall portfolio.  In 2013, borrower 
interest receivable and interest subsidy receivable decreased $4.8 million due to a 
reduction in the overall portfolio.   

 The fair market value of the derivative instrument associated with the 2010-1 Bond 
increased $1.2 million and the fair market value of the derivative instrument associated 
with the 2009 Bond decreased $3.2 million from the fair market values reported in 2013.  
The fair market value of the derivative instrument associated with the 2010-1 Bond 
decreased $5.9 million and the fair market value of the derivative instrument associated 
with the 2009 Bond decreased $5.8 million from the fair market values reported in 2012.     

 Investments increased nearly $28.5 million from the amount outstanding June 30, 2013 
primarily due to the high volume of loan consolidation receipts received and 1998 bond 
indenture restructure that requires the Foundation to set aside funds for a future 
mandatory redemption.  Investments increased as of June 30, 2013 by $40.7 million from 
the amount outstanding June 30, 2012.  This increase was primarily due to the 1998 bond 
indenture restructure in fiscal year 2013.   

 Cash and cash equivalents decreased $3.3 million over the prior year as of June 30, 2014.  
Unrestricted cash decreased by $3.5 million due to the purchase of rehabilitated loans 
from the New Mexico Student Loan Guarantee Corporation that totaled approximately 
$5.4 million.  Restricted cash increased $.2 million due to the high volume of loan 
consolidation receipts received near 2013 year-end which was pending transfer to 
investments.  As of June 30, 2013, cash and cash equivalents had decreased by $4.3 
million.  Unrestricted cash increased by $.2 million due to reduced operational costs 
during the year.  Restricted cash decreased by $4.4 million due to high volume of loan 
consolidation receipts received near year-end and pending transfer to investments.   
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 As of June 30, 2014, student loan late and legal fees, net and other receivable amounts 
decreased by $.1 million due in part to decreases in grant funds receivable from the New 
Mexico State Department of Higher Education.  In 2013, student loan late and legal fees, 
net and other receivable amounts decreased by $.4 million due to decrease in grant funds 
receivable from the New Mexico State Department of Higher Education. 

 As of June 30, 2014, capital assets had decreased nearly $.8 million primarily due to 
depreciation for all assets exceeding the value of new capital assets purchased.  Capital 
assets decreased $.2 million primarily due to depreciation for all assets exceeding the 
value of new capital assets purchased as of June 30, 2013.  
 

Total Liabilities decreased by approximately $48 million to $791million as of June 30, 2014 
as compared to a decrease of approximately $63 million to $839 million as of June 30, 2013.  
Decreases and Increases in Liabilities were driven by the following primary changes (in 
approximate amounts):  
 
 Current and Long-Term Bonds payable 

decreased $46.0 million as of June 30, 
2014 from the amount outstanding June 
30, 2013 due to debt retirements.  As of 
June 30, 2013, current and long-term 
bonds payable decreased by $68.9 million 
due to debt retirements during the fiscal 
year 2013.   

 In fiscal year 2014, the year end interest 
accrual had a slight increase of $.4 
thousand in spite of the lower bonds 
payable balance.  This is due to an 
increase in interest rates for bonds that 
did not decrease.  In fiscal year 2013, a 
lower bonds payable balance led to a 
decrease in the year end interest accrual of $.2 million. 

 In 2014 and 2013, there was no new reserve for excess earnings and arbitrage liabilities 
activity because most tax exempt issues of the Foundation will have no future excess 
earnings liabilities due to the VCAP settlement.  Also, low interest rates do not create 
enough earnings to produce yields above the restricted amount for all bond issues.   
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 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities decreased $50 thousand as of June 30, 2014.  
Special allowance payable decreased $.3 million due to a decreasing portfolio of student 
loans.  As of June 30, 2013, accounts payable and accrued liabilities decreased by $.3 
million.  Special allowance payable decreased by $.7 million due to a decreasing 
portfolio of student loans. The remaining liabilities and deferred amount decreased by $.1 
million.   

 
Net Position decreased by 3% to $125.2 
million and Net Position comprised 
approximately 14% of Total Assets at June 30, 
2014.  Net Position decreased by 11% to 
$128.2 million and Net Position comprised 
approximately 13% of Total Assets at June 30, 
2013. 
 

Analysis of Results of Operations: 
 
In 2014, Total Revenues were $21.7 million, 
an increase of $6.7 million from June 30, 
2013.  Total Revenues for the Year Ended 
June 30, 2013 were approximately $15.0 
million, a decrease of $32.9 million from the prior year.  The fluctuations are primarily 
attributable to:  
 In 2014 and 2013, a net decrease in student loan interest, interest subsidy and special 

allowance was due to the reduction in student loans receivable.   
 In 2014 and 2013, there was a decrease in the fair market value of the derivative 

instruments due to reduced expected cash flows in the future as compared with the prior 
years.    

 In 2014, the Foundation earned less 
revenue from the Statewide 
Outreach plan than in 2013.  This 
program will cease in October 2014. 

 In 2014 and 2013 loan servicing and 
other fees decreased due to 
reductions in the volume of amounts 
serviced. 

 For the year ended June 30, 3014, 
investment revenue in the Debt fund 
decreased by $13.4 million, interest 
and special allowance revenue for 
the Debt fund decreased $1.5 
million, and other revenue decreased 
$.3 million. For the year ended June 30, 2013, investment revenue in the Debt Fund 
decreased by $29.6 million, interest and special allowance revenue for the Debt fund 
decreased $3.0 million, and other revenue decreased $.3 million.  In the General fund, 
there was no new purchase fee revenue.    
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      Total Expenses for the year ended June 30, 2014 were $24.7 million, which was a decrease of 
$5.8 million or 19% under the prior year 
expense.  Total Expenses for the year 
ended June 30, 2013 were $30.4 million, 
which was an increase of $20 million or 
192% over the prior year expense.   The 
primary drivers behind the changes 
were:  

 During the year ended June 30, 
2014, interest expense decreased $1.5 
million.  During the year ended June 30, 
2013, interest expense decreased by 
nearly $1.4 million.  The decrease was 
mainly due to declining debt balances 
for both years. 

 For the year ended June 30, 
2014,  there was no new reserve for excess earnings and arbitrage expense activity 
because most tax exempt issues of the Foundation will have no future excess earnings 
liabilities due to the VCAP settlement.  Also, low interest rates do not create enough 
earnings to produce yields above the restricted amount for all bond issues.  For the year 
ended June 30, 2013, the Foundation recovered $.14 million in excess earnings and 
arbitrage liabilities expense.  This was a decrease of $25.2 million from the prior year. 

 During fiscal year 2014, the net decrease in the category Other expenses combined was 
$3.0 million and resulted primarily from the VCAP settlement in fiscal year 2013.  
During fiscal year 2013, the net increase in all other expenses combined was $3.1 million 
and resulted primarily from the increase in trustee and debt issuance costs.    

 In 2014, the Debt Fund expenses decreased by $4.0 million due to the reduction of 
interest and trust related costs.  The General Fund operating expenses decreased by $2.1 
million mainly due to the reduction in other expenses.  In 2013, the Debt Fund expenses 
increased by $23.4 million due to the reduction of recovery in excess earnings and 
arbitrage expenses along with reduced interest and trust related costs from the prior fiscal 
year.  The General Fund operating expenses decreased by $4.0 million mainly due to the 
reclassification of capitalized software in the previous fiscal year.   
 

For the year ended June 30, 2014, the Change 
in Net Position (deficiency of revenue) was 
$3.0 million, an increase of $12.4 million from 
the prior year.  The Change in Net Position was 
primarily due to the decrease in trust expenses 
and to the decrease in the fair market value of 
derivative investments.  For the year ended 
June 30, 2013, the Change in Net Position 
(deficiency of revenue) was $15.4 million, a 
decrease of $52.9 million from the prior year.  
The Change in Net Position was primarily due 
to the decreased recovery of excess earnings 
expense, the decrease in the fair market value 
of derivative investments and the early 
adoption of GASB 65.   
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As of June 30, 2014, the Debt Fund decreased net position by $2.5 million while the General 
Fund decreased net position by $.5 million.  The Debt Fund’s decrease to net position was 
due to the decrease in fair market value of the derivative instruments and the reduction in 
interest subsidy. The General Fund’s decrease was primarily due to the Federal Loan 
Servicing and Collection Agency functions not earning revenue as budgeted in fiscal year 
2014.  In comparison, for the year ended June 30, 2013, the Debt Fund decreased net position 
by $13.5 million while the General Fund decreased net position by $1.9 million.  The Debt 
Fund’s decrease to net position was due to the decrease in fair market value of the derivative 
instruments, the recognition of Cost of Issuance expenses for refunded bonds, and the 
deferred inflow received from the 2013-1 refunding.  The General Fund’s decrease was 
primarily due to the VCAP fee settlement with the IRS.  
 
The primary inter-fund transactions are periodic payments to the General Fund from the Debt 
Fund of a “trust administrative allowance.”  The allowance is a federally prescribed yield on 
the student loan receivable balance that can be utilized unencumbered by the agency to cover 
general administrative costs.  The allowance comprised 79% of the General Fund’s Total 
Revenues for the year ended June 30, 2014 which is in line with the prior year while the 
dollar amount decreased 4%.  In 2013, the allowance comprised 78% of the General Fund’s 
Total Revenues while the total dollar amount decreased by 13% over the prior year.  The 
allowance is driven by the balance in student loans receivable.  In consolidating the two 
Funds for presentation in the financial statements, Trust Administrative Allowance Revenue 
and Expense were eliminated from the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Position.  
 
The amount of Net Position invested in capital assets at June 30, 2014 was $5.7 million, a 
decrease of $.1 million from the prior year.  The amount of Net Position invested in capital 
assets at June 30, 2013 was $5.8 
million, a decrease of $.2 million from 
the prior year.  In 2014, the decrease is 
due to a reclassification of software 
related to the Federal Loan Servicing 
project being expensed along with 
depreciation for all assets exceeding the 
value of new capital assets purchased.  
In 2013, the decrease is primarily due to 
depreciation for all assets exceeding the 
value of new capital assets purchased. 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
2014, the Restricted Net Position 
balance of $96.3 million – which must 
be reserved to collateralize outstanding 
bond debt – decreased by $2.5 million.  
The Restricted Net Position balance of $98.8 million, which must be reserved to collateralize 
outstanding bond debt, decreased by $13.4 million in fiscal year 2013.  Unrestricted Net 
Position, which is unencumbered, decreased by $.4 million to $23.2 million as of June 30, 
2014 and decreased  by $1.8 million to $23.6 million as of June 30, 2013. 
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IV. Analysis of Significant Budgetary Variations 
 
In June 2014 and June 2013, respectively, the Foundation’s board of directors adopted the 
fiscal year 2014-2015 and 2013-2014 operating budgets for the Debt Fund, the General Fund 
and the entity as a whole.  These budgets were final, although not legally binding and 
therefore are not an integral part of the financial statements.  It is the Foundation’s policy to 
freeze the revenue and expense budget as initially approved and treat new income streams 
and subsequent approved expenses as non-budgeted items during the year. 
 
In fiscal year 2014, actual total revenues of $21.7 million fell short of the budgeted $26.8 
million by $5.1 million or 23%.  Most of the shortfall is due to the unrealized revenue from  
Pillar Fed Servicing of $2.6 million and the value of the Derivative Instrument (SWAP) 
decreasing by $2.0 million.  Total expenses (combined operating and non-operating) of $24.7 
million were favorable to the budget by $3.1 million or approximately 12% under budget.  
The change in net position of a $3.0 million decrease exceeded the budgeted decrease in net 
position of $1.1 million by $1.9 million.  
 
In fiscal year 2013, actual total revenues of $15.0 million fell short of the budget of $25.1 
million by $10.1 million or 40%.  Most of the shortfall is due to the value of the Derivative 
Instrument (SWAP) decreasing by $11.7 million in FY13.  Total expenses (combined 
operating and non-operating) of $30.4 million were unfavorable to the budget by $1.2 
million, or approximately 3% over budget.  The change in net position of a $15.4 million 
decrease exceeded the budgeted decrease of $4.1 million by $11.3 million.  
 
V. Description of Significant Capital Asset and Long-Term Debt Activity 
 
Capital Assets: 
 
The approved capital budget for the year ended June 30, 2014 was $1 million.  The total 
capital expenditures for the year were $898 thousand or $102 thousand under budget.  The 
major categories of capital expenditures during the year were:  Information Technology (IT) 
Hardware, IT Software, and the New Phone System.  
 
The approved capital budget for the year ended June 30, 2013 was $232 thousand.  The total 
capital expenditures for the year were $236 thousand or $4 thousand over budget.  The major 
categories of capital expenditures during the year were:  Information Technology (IT) 
Hardware, IT Software and the Direct Loans project.  

 
Long-Term Debt: 
 
On May 8, 2013, the Foundation issued $257.95 million in bonds maturing January 2025.  
Proceeds of $167.3 million and other funds were used to refund existing debt issues. 
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VI. Discussion of Currently Known Facts, Decisions, or Conditions Expected to Have a 
Significant Effect on Financial Position or Results of Operations. 
 
Federal Loan Servicing (Direct Loans) 
 
The legislation passed to restore government operations on October 17, 2013, the Continuing 
Appropriations Act 2014, eliminated the not for profit servicing legislation.  Because of this 
change the Foundation is no longer eligible to service direct loans as the contract period has 
closed.  There may be future opportunities when the Department of Education issues requests 
for proposals when the current servicing contracts end.  
 
Special Allowance (SAP) Billing 
 
On December 23, 2011 H.R. 2055, the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2012 (Public Law 
112-74). Section 309(e) of Public Law 112-74 amended section 438(b)(2)(I) of the Higher 
Education Act (HEA) was signed into law to allow Federal Family Education Loan Program 
(FFELP) loan holders or an entity that holds a beneficial ownership interest in a FFELP loan 
(here, a “beneficial holder”) to have the 1-month London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) 
substituted for the 3-month commercial paper (CP) rate for the purposes of Special 
Allowance Payment (SAP) calculations on certain FFELP loans.  Effective April 1, 2012, the 
Foundation elected to waive the 3-month commercial paper rate in favor of the 1-month 
LIBOR rate. 
 
Requests for Information 
 
This report is designed to provide an overview of NMEAF’s finances for those with an 
interest in this area.  Questions concerning any of the information found in this report or 
requests for additional information should be directed to the Vice President of Finance, 7400 
Tiburon NE, Albuquerque, NM  87109. 
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  June 30, 2014   
 
June 30, 2013 

ASSETS      
Current Assets:      
  Cash and Cash Equivalents $            11,453,251   $            14,972,042  
  Cash and Cash Equivalents – Restricted               2,512,974                 2,316,107  
  Funds Held In Custody for Others                  155,027                    155,061  
  Investments           128,699,478                 100,166,682 
Receivables:      
    Current Portion of Student Loans Receivable,      
       Net of Allowance of $1,093,780 and $1,235,992             94,178,765               86,695,359  
    Student Loan Interest Receivable, Net of               

Allowance of $87,885 and $71,055             14,477,136               15,689,788  
    Interest Subsidy Receivable               1,494,434                 1,843,999  
    Student Loan Late and Legal Fees Receivable,                     

Net of Allowance of $1,856,333 and $1,859,050               2,527,497                 2,841,456  
  Other                   463,910                    275,690  

Total Current Assets           255,962,472             224,956,184 

Long-Term and Other Assets:      
  Student Loans Receivable, Net,  Less Current Portion             630,273,273            708,674,904  
  Derivative Instruments             18,717,948               20,731,998  
  Derivative Instruments – Prepaid Interest               5,674,019                7,000,953  

Total Long-Term and Other Assets           654,665,240             736,407,855  

Capital Assets:      
  Property, Plant & Equipment, Net               5,702,199                 5,784,815  
      

Total Assets $          916,329,911   $          967,148,854  

LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES      
Current Liabilities:      
  Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities $             1,958,665   $             2,003,793  
  Bonds Payable, Current Portion            68,573,628              25,153,732  
  Special Allowance Payable              3,990,302                4,335,112  
  Accrued Interest on Bonds               1,641,345                1,640,953  
  Funds Held In Custody For Others                        789                          749  

Total Current Liabilities            76,164,729              33,134,339 

Long-Term Liabilities:      
  Bonds Payable, Less Current Portion          709,156,949            798,602,473  

Total Long-Term Liabilities          709,156,949            798,602,473  
      
Deferred Inflow of Resources:       
  Deferred gain on refunded bonds:              5,696,717               7,182,817    
  Other Deferred Gain                 102,941                             - 

Total Deferred Inflow of Resources              5,799,658              7,182,817 
Total Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources          791,121,336            838,919,629  

NET POSITION      
  Invested in Capital Assets              5,702,199                5,784,815  
  Unrestricted            23,206,392              23,605,890  
  Restricted, Bond Indenture            96,299,984               98,838,520  

Total Net Position          125,208,575           128,229,225  
      

Total Liabilities, deferred inflows and Net Position $         916,329,911   $         967,148,854 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 

  June 30, 2014   
 

June 30, 2013 
OPERATING REVENUES:      
  Student Loan Interest $       31,220,763  $        33,726,251 
  Interest Subsidy and Special Allowance         (9,833,711)        (9,970,458) 
  Decrease in Fair Market Value of Derivative  
     Instruments          (2,014,050)     

  
(11,720,149) 

  Investment Revenue             32,084                324,223 
  Student Loan Late and Legal Fees, Net          1,262,087            1,468,892 
  Servicing and Administration Agreements:      
     New Mexico Student Loan Guarantee Corporation             631,523               511,251 
     Servicing Fees             88,195               352,230 
  Other             335,504               322,889 
Total Operating Revenues        21,722,395          15,015,129 

      
OPERATING EXPENSES:    
  Interest Expense on Bonds and Notes Payable        6,544,172            8,027,765 
  General and Administration:      
     Salaries and Employee Benefits          8,246,162            7,486,723  
     Depreciation and Amortization             534,604               460,353  
     Provision for Student Loan Losses             454,017               697,016  
     U.S. Department of Education Fees          3,032,559            3,248,616  
     Other Student Loan Related Costs          2,346,236            2,272,031  
     Other          3,264,005            6,260,308  
  Trustee Fees, Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs,        
     Commitment Fees and Other Trust Expenses          321,290            2,111,210  
Total Operating Expenses        24,743,045          30,564,022  

      
Operating (Loss) Income       (3,020,650)        (15,548,893) 

      
NON-OPERATING EXPENSES (RECOVERIES):      
  Excess Earnings  -          (141,081) 
Total Non-Operating Expenses (Recoveries)            -        (141,081) 

      

Change in Net Position $      (3,020,650)  $ 
  

(15,407,812) 
      

NET POSITION:    
  Beginning $      128,229,225  $      143,637,037 
      
  Ending $      125,208,575  $      128,229,225 
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  June 30, 2014   
 

June 30, 2013 
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:      
  Cash Received From or on Behalf of Borrowers $         105,585,762  $         150,095,930 
  Cash Disbursed to or Paid on Behalf of Borrowers          (18,328,989)            (24,210,248) 
  Cash Received From Others            9,544,149               10,169,225 
  Cash Paid to Employees            (8,274,377)              (7,486,723) 
  Cash Paid to Suppliers            (3,280,918)              (6,546,057) 
  Cash Received From Investments                 30,699                   324,223 
  Cash Paid for Interest on Bonds and Notes          (15,633,122)            (16,947,422) 
     Net Cash Provided  by Operating Activities          69,643,204           105,398,928 
   
Cash Flows From Non-Capital Financing   
  Activities:    
  Proceeds on Bonds and Notes              -     257,950,000 
  Payments on Bonds and Notes         (43,632,000)   (324,535,000) 
  Trust Expenditures, Arbitrage, and Excess Earnings 

Expenditures  
 

          (348,418)   
 

 (2,175,321) 

     Net Cash Used by Non-Capital Financing Activities  
 

       (43,980,418)   
 

(68,760,321) 
   
Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing   
  Activities:   
  Purchase of Capital Assets                (451,988)                 (235,904) 
     Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing 

Activities  
 

              (451,988)   
 

              (235,904) 
    
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:    
  Redemptions of Investments          85,228,258           164,484,616 
  Purchases of Investments         (113,761,054)          (205,151,084) 
  Funds Held in Custody for Others                     74                       1,425 

     Net Cash Used by Investing Activities          (28,532,722)   
  

(40,665,043) 
   
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents            (3,321,924)              (4,262,340) 
      
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year           17,288,149             21,550,489 
      
Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $           13,966,225  $           17,288,149 
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See accompanying notes to financial statements.

  June 30, 2014   
 

June 30, 2013 
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash      
 Provided by Operating Activities:      
      

Operating (Loss) Income $       (3,020,650)  $ 
  

(15,548,893) 
      
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net Cash 
Provided by Operating Activities:      
     Decrease in Fair Market Value of Derivative Instrument          2,014,050        11,720,149 
     Depreciation and Amortization on Fixed Assets               534,604              460,353 
     Trustee Fees, Amortization of Prepaid Interest and Other 
     Trust Expense  

 
          321,290   

 
         2,111,210 

Amortization of bond premium        (3,776,787)        (2,393,628)
Changes in Assets, Liabilities and Deferred Inflows:   
     Decrease in Student Loans Receivable, Net          70,918,225        97,458,547 
     Decrease in all Other Student Loan         
        Related Receivables           1,531,365            4,119,006 
    (Increase) in Investment Income Receivable                                        (2,215)   (3,077)   

    (Increase) Decrease in Other Current Assets  
  

(190,435)             370,413   

     Decrease in Prepaid Interest   
  

1,312,312           255,552 
     Increase in Accounts Payable and Other   Accrued  
     Liabilities  

 
           1,445   

 
          (333,521) 

Increase in Deferred Gain on Refunded Bonds                                   -            7,182,817   
      
Net Cash Provided  by Operations $      69,643,204  $      105,398,928 

      
      
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:     
Interest Collected on FFELP Student Loans $        15,738,053  $        16,494,832 
Interest Subsidy and Special Allowance Paid to the U.S. 
Department of Education 

 
$

 
     (9,828,699)  

 
$ 

 
     (10,064,187) 

Excess Earnings Expense (Recovery) Incurred and Liability 
Accrued (Released) 

 
$

 
           -  

 
$ 

 
     (141,081) 

Principal Amount of Bonds Refunded or Retired $      43,632,000    $      290,785,000 
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(1) Organization 
 

The New Mexico Educational Assistance Foundation (the “Foundation” or NMEAF) was 
organized under the laws of the State of New Mexico on July 1, 1981, as a quasi-
governmental, not-for-profit organization for the purpose of improving the educational 
opportunities of the residents of New Mexico and students who attend New Mexico post-
secondary educational institutions. The Foundation services loans and provides 
administrative support and other services for in-state educational and lending institutions and 
administers federal financial aid programs.  The Foundation also provides administrative 
support for the New Mexico Student Loan Guarantee Corporation (Corporation), a quasi-
governmental, not-for-profit entity operating as a guarantee agency under the Federal Family 
Education Loan Program (FFELP). 
 
In October of 2003, the Foundation and the Corporation filed a “doing business as” trade 
name of New Mexico Student Loans with the New Mexico State Corporation commission.  As 
of that date, both entities hold themselves out to the public as one organization in order to 
improve awareness and understanding of their inter-related purpose. 
 
The Foundation’s primary purpose was to provide a program for making, financing, holding, 
and purchasing federally insured educational loans.  On March 30, 2010, the Health Care and 
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (H.R. 4872/P.L. 111-152) was signed into law.  This 
act eliminated the disbursement of new loans under the Federal Family Education Loan 
Program.  As of July 1, 2010, the Foundation no longer originates or disburses student loans 
under this program. 

 
(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

(a) Basis of Accounting 
 
The Foundation meets the definition of a governmental entity as set forth in the AICPA 
Audit and Accounting Guide, Audits of State and Local Governmental Units.  The financial 
statements of the Foundation are prepared on the basis of an enterprise fund as defined by 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).  Enterprise funds are used to account 
for operations (a) that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business 
enterprises where the intent of the entity is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) 
of providing goods and services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges; or (b) where the entity has decided that periodic 
determination of revenue earned, expenses incurred, and net income is appropriate for 
capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other purposes. 
 
The Foundation’s government wide financial statements are designed to be corporate-like in 
that all business-type activities are consolidated into one column and consist of a Statement 
of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and 
Statement of Cash Flows.  The Foundation carries on no governmental activities.  It has 
neither fiduciary funds nor component units that are fiduciary in nature. 
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Enterprise funds are accounted for on the flow of economic resources measurement focus 
and use the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenue is recorded when 
earned, and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.  
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include: 

 Borrower interest income and fees; 
 Federal subsidies; 
 Investment interest income; 
 Loan servicing and other revenue. 

 
Essentially all of the Foundation’s revenues are program revenues. 

 
Enterprise funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items.  
All of the Foundation’s revenue streams are considered operating in nature.  The principal 
non-operating expenses are arbitrage rebate and excess earnings expense. 

 
When both restricted and unrestricted net position are available to cover a designated 
expense, it is the Foundation’s policy to use restricted resources first, and then utilize 
unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

 
(b) Fund Accounting 

 
The General and Debt Funds (Funds) are separate sets of self-balancing accounts 
established to account for all transactions pertaining to the general administration, student 
lending and debt issues of NMEAF. These funds do not meet the criteria for reporting as 
separate funds in the accompanying financial statements, but are used for internal reporting 
purposes.  Each fund utilizes the accrual basis of accounting whereby revenues are 
recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred.  The effect of 
interfund activity has been eliminated from the combined financial statements. 

 
All transactions relating to the Funds, which are not presented distinctly in the financial 
statements, are recorded as described below: 

 
• General Fund: The receipt of revenue and transfers for the payment of expenses for the 

administration of the Foundation’s programs are recorded in the General Fund. 
 
• Debt Fund: Transactions relating to the Foundation’s borrowings to finance student loans 

through the issuance of debt are recorded in the Debt Fund. All revenue and expenses 
associated with these student loans and all related trust indenture activity are recorded in 
this fund. The Debt Fund reimburses the General Fund for expenses incurred on its 
behalf. Various assets and liabilities of each respective debt issue are combined in the 
accompanying balance sheet although there are various restrictive covenants associated 
with each issue. Net Position of the Fund generally are restricted for the repayment of 
Debt Fund obligations and to satisfy certain reserve requirements specified by the various 
indentures. 
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(c) Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during 
the reporting period. The allowance for student loan losses, late and legal fees, special 
allowance revenue, and arbitrage rebate and excess earnings liabilities are the principal 
areas involving estimates and judgments. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 
(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents, Cash and Cash Equivalents – Restricted, Investments 

The Foundation considers cash on hand, in banks, and similar highly liquid instruments to 
be cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at cost.  Cash earmarked for loan 
disbursement to students and cash collected on student loans but not yet remitted to the 
Bond trustees are restricted from use for NMEAF operations and are shown as Cash and 
Cash Equivalents – Restricted on the Statement of Net Position.  The Foundation considers 
all other invested funds to be Investments. 

 
Funds held by Bond trustees, recorded as investments on the Statement of Net Position, 
consist of the following: 

 
• Money market and deposit funds that are fully secured by a pledge of direct obligations 

of or guaranteed by the United States of America or certain federal agencies. These 
investments are carried at cost, which approximates market value. 

 
(e) Funds Held in Custody for Others 

 
NMEAF is the agent for various in-state educational institutions and the private lending 
community. As an agent, the Foundation holds and disburses funds for the institutions to 
qualified students. 

 
(f) Premiums and Borrower Incentive Plan Fees 

The Foundation deferred the recognition of premiums paid on student loan notes purchased 
and amortizes them over the estimated life of the loans as an adjustment to the yield of the 
related loans. Borrower incentives costs such as origination fees and default fees are also 
amortized over the estimated life of the related loans. Amortization of these costs is 
included in other student loan costs expense on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position. 

 
(g) Student Loan Late and Legal Fees Receivable 

The Foundation records late and legal fees to each borrower's account when assessed, in 
accordance with its litigation policy. However, management believes that a portion of these 
amounts will not be received from the borrower. As a result, NMEAF records late and legal 
fees revenue, net of estimated amounts deemed uncollectible. 
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(h) Allowance for Student Loan Losses 

The Foundation provides allowances for the following items in the student loan portfolio: 
student loans receivable (principal), student loan interest, and late and legal fees receivable. 
To the extent NMEAF has properly serviced the student loan portfolio in accordance with 
the U.S. Department of Education's (ED) due diligence regulations and other requirements, 
student loan principal and interest receivable is insured by the ED between 97% and 100%, 
depending on the year of origination, of the principal and interest balance during the year.   
Student Loans guaranteed by the Federal Government for the years ended June 30, 2014 
and 2013 were $711,633,127 and $776,910,621, respectively.  

 
Allowance considerations are applied to student loan late and legal fees receivable because 
the only recourse for collection of such receivables is the borrower. Allowances recorded 
by NMEAF are amounts that, in the judgment of management, are adequate to absorb 
known and estimated risks in the student loan portfolio. Management considers various 
factors in providing for these losses, including the amount of loans with due diligence 
violations, litigation results and estimated successful due diligence cure and collection 
results on student loans. 

 
(i) Derivative Instruments 

 
The Foundation accounts for derivative instruments using GASB Statement No. 53, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments (GASB 53). This Statement 
requires the Foundation to report its derivative instruments at fair value. Changes in fair 
value for effective hedges are to be reported as deferred inflow and outflow of resources on 
the Statements of Net Position. Changes in fair value of derivative instruments not meeting 
the criteria for an effective hedge, or that are associated with investments are to be reported 
in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. 
 
The Foundation has determined that its interest rate swaps associated with variable rate 
obligations are derivative instruments under GASB 53. See Note 7 Derivative Instruments 
for further discussion related to the Foundation’s interest rate swaps.  
 
(j) Premiums and Gains/Losses on Refunding 

 
Bond premiums and gains/losses on refunding (including gains/losses related to interest 
rate swap transactions) are deferred and amortized over the term of the new bonds using the 
effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premiums. 
Gains/losses on refunding are reported as deferred inflows or outflows of resources  
 
(k) Bond Issuance Costs  

Bond issuance costs, including underwriter’s fees are expensed at issuance. 
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(l) Capital Assets 

Capital assets are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. The capitalization 
threshold is $1,000. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the related assets. Estimated useful lives of the capital assets are as 
follows: 

Building         30 years 
Building improvements      10 years 
Furniture and fixtures      10 years 
Software Development and Building Equipment     5 years 
Data processing hardware, other than personal computers     4 years 
Data processing hardware, personal computers     3 years 
Data processing software        3 years 
Vehicles         3 years 

Maintenance and repairs that do not extend the assets’ useful lines are charged to expense 
as incurred.  Software development is for internal use.  Only the costs paid externally for 
study, design, and programming will be capitalized. 

 
(m) Restricted Net Position 

 
Assets held as collateral on outstanding Bonds Payable are classified as Restricted Net 
Position. 

 
(n) Revenue Recognition 

The Foundation records student loan interest, interest subsidy, and special allowance as 
revenue when earned. 

 
Under the FFELP program, the ED makes quarterly interest payments to the Foundation 
while the subsidized Stafford loan is in an in-school or in-grace status and until the student 
is required, under the provisions of the Higher Education Act, to begin repayment. Interest 
becomes due from individual borrowers once the loan goes into repayment status.  Interest 
on non-subsidized loans is due from individual borrowers once the loan is disbursed.  
Borrowers under the FFELP program may defer their interest payments on unsubsidized 
Stafford loans until the end of their in-school and in-grace period.  Interest, both subsidized 
and due from the borrower, is equivalent to the annual student loan interest rate multiplied 
by the daily unpaid loan balance. 

 
The ED also provides a special allowance subsidy to lenders participating in the FFELP. 
Special allowances are computed and paid quarterly on the average daily unpaid principal 
balance of qualifying student loans outstanding based on an annual rate equal to the 
average bond equivalent rate of 9l-day United States Treasury Bills for subsidized loans 
during the calendar quarter, or for loans first disbursed after January 1, 2000, the 90-day 
commercial paper rate. For loans first disbursed on or after April 1, 2006, if the special 
allowance calculation based on the 90-day commercial paper rate is less than zero, the 
Foundation must return this “negative” special allowance to the ED.  Effective April 1, 
2012, the Foundation elected to waive the 3-month commercial paper rate in favor of the 
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1-month LIBOR rate in accordance with the H.R. 2055, the Consolidated 
Appropriations Act. 

 
The Foundation records interest subsidy and special allowance, net of any negative special 
allowance, as revenue when earned.  

 
Late and legal fees are recorded as revenue when they have been assessed to each 
borrower's account in accordance with NMEAF's litigation policy. Service agreement 
revenue is recorded as earned over the life of the contract, and servicing fees are recorded 
as earned. 

 
(o)  Reserves for Excess Earnings and Arbitrage Rebate  

Arbitrage rebate and excess earnings that are owed to the United States Department of 
Treasury are recorded as separate reserves and are based on calculations performed by 
independent valuation specialists on an ongoing basis.  

 
(p) Income Taxes 

The Foundation is a tax-exempt, quasi-governmental organization under Section 501(c) (3) 
of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). All of NMEAF's income is from tax-exempt activities. 
Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been included in the accompanying 
financial statements. 

   
(q)  Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In June 2011, GASB issued Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred Outflows, 
Deferred Inflows, and Net Position. The statement establishes standards for reporting 
deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and net positions, elements 
of financial statements identified and defined by previously issued Concepts Statement 4. 
The requirements in the statement will improve financial reporting by standardizing 
presentation of these elements. The statement is effective for financial statements of 
periods beginning after December 15, 2011. The Foundation has adopted this new 
pronouncement beginning with the year ended June 30, 2013. The effect to the 
Foundation’s adoption of this statement is limited to the reclassification of Net Assets to 
“Net Position” and reclassification of certain items as “Deferred inflow of resources”.                                       
 
In March 2012, GASB issued Statement No. 65, Items Previously Reported as Assets and 
Liabilities. This statement provides guidance on reclassifying certain items as deferred 
outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources. The statement further requires 
reclassification of certain items previously recorded as assets and liabilities as expenses or 
revenues. The specific account impacting the Foundation is detailed below.              
Deferred gain on Refunded Bonds: GASB 65 requires that deferred gain on refunded bonds 
(previously reported as a liability) be presented under the caption “Deferred Inflows of 
Resources”. 
 
Bond Issuance Costs: Previous standards required that certain costs associated with the 
issuance of bonds, including underwriter’s discounts, be recognized as an asset and 
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amortized over the life of the bond. Statement No. 65 requires that bond issuance costs be 
fully expensed at issuance. 

 
(3) Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments 
 

The Foundation considers cash deposits in banks (both restricted and unrestricted), 
unrestricted money market funds, and cash on hand to be cash and cash equivalents.  Other 
invested funds, including guaranteed investment contracts, U.S. Treasury securities, 
trustee-held money markets, and certificates of deposit, are classified as investments.  For 
purposes of presentation on this footnote, all cash and cash equivalents and investments are 
displayed in a single schedule. 

 
(a)  Concentration of Credit Risk 

 
The Foundation’s investment policy specifies that all investments must comply with New 
Mexico State Statute 21-21A-17.  Generally, this Statute permits investment of funds in the 
following types of instruments: 
 
• Direct obligations of the United States or its agencies (GNMA, FNMA, FHLB, etc.),  
• Certificates of deposit fully collateralized by the above; 
• If proceeds from a bond issue, in securities specified under the trust indenture. 

 
As of June 30, 2014 and 2013, 0% and 0% of total cash and investments are in Investment 
Agreements as defined by the trust indentures.  Nearly 88% and 82% of total cash and 
investments are in money markets that invest in government securities as of June 30, 2014 
and 2013, respectively.  The remaining cash is in repurchase agreements or demand deposit 
accounts. 

 
(b)   Custodial Credit Risk 

 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Foundation’s deposits 
may not be returned to it.  NMEAF has a policy to ensure sufficient collateral on its 
deposits through U.S. Agency Securities to meet state requirements. 

 
Investments listed below as guaranteed investment contracts and money market funds are 
carried at cost, which approximates market value due to the short-term nature of the 
accounts.  The credit ratings of these investments are obtained from Moody’s Investors 
Service.  They are restricted to the extent required by the bond indentures.  Money market 
funds have no stated maturities. 
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Cash and cash equivalents and investments balances, June 30, 2014: 

   Maturity  Rating  Fair Value 
Money Market Funds – Northern Inst. Funds         N/A  Aaa $      111,113,301
Money Market Funds – Wells Fargo Treasury         N/A         Aaa       14,110,935
CD – Bank of Oklahoma         N/A         Aaa          3,000,054
Money Market Funds – Fidelity-Treasury         N/A         Aaa            475,188

Total Investments        128,699,478
Money Market Fund – Bank of the West N/A  N/A         1,146,013 
Demand Deposits and Cash on Hand N/A  N/A        12,820,212

Total     $     142,665,703 

 
Cash and cash equivalents and investments balances, June 30, 2013: 

 Maturity  Rating  Fair Value 
Money Market Funds – Northern Inst. Funds N/A  Aaa        83,269,608
Money Market Funds – Wells Fargo Treasury         N/A         Aaa        13,422,125
CD – Bank of Oklahoma         N/A         Aaa           3,000,000
Money Market Funds – Fidelity-Treasury N/A  Aaa             474,949

  Total Investments          100,166,682
Money Market Fund -  Bank of the West N/A   N/A          1,145,980
Demand Deposits and Cash on Hand N/A   N/A        16,142,169 

Total     $      117,454,831  

 
(4) Student Loans Receivable 

 
Student loans receivable by bond issue and status, June 30, 2014: 

  Status   

Bond Issue  Student  Repayment  Total 
General Fund $        627,418 $     6,361,517 $       6,988,935
2001 Series A & B       2,363,102   11,946,676      14,309,778
2002 Series A   11,426,861   35,606,025      47,032,886
2003 Series A   11,450,160   37,362,640      48,812,800
2004 Series A   13,795,404    55,015,715      68,811,119
2007 Series A   18,431,378 96,091,153    114,522,531
2009 Series A, B, & C   52,260,490 123,063,239    175,323,729
Series 2010-1   29,538,792 102,027,346    131,566,138
Series 2010-2   27,503,220   90,674,681    118,177,901

Total 167,396,825 558,148,992    725,545,817
Less allowance for uncollectible principal       (252,368)        (841,411)       (1,093,779)

Total $ 167,144,457 $ 557,307,581 $   724,452,038
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Student loans receivable by bond issue and status, June 30, 2013: 

  Status   

Bond Issue  Student  Repayment  Total 
General Fund $        281,903 $    2,220,732  $        2,502,635
2001 Series A & B     2,679,691   13,452,168       16,131,859
2002 Series A   13,340,219   37,942,118       51,282,337
2003 Series A   13,502,187   39,974,661       53,476,848
2004 Series A   17,386,208   58,258,292       75,644,500
2007 Series A   22,910,138 102,986,239     125,896,377
2009 Series A, B & C   65,744,151   129,091,282     194,835,433
Series 2010-1   36,534,985 110,264,490     146,799,475
Series 2010-2   32,357,683 97,679,108      130,036,791

Total 204,737,165 591,869,090     796,606,255
Less allowance for uncollectible principal       (317,664)       (918,328)        (1,235,992)

Total $ 204,419,501 $ 590,950,762 $    795,370,263

Student loans receivable had variable and fixed interest rates, ranging from 1.75% to 9% at 
June 30, 2014, and from 1.76% to 9% at June 30, 2013. 

Student loans are classified as being in either "in-school/in-grace" or "repayment" status. 
In-school/in-grace status represents the period from the date the loan is made until a student 
is out of school for a grace period, plus any authorized deferment periods, at which time the 
repayment status commences. Substantially all student loans receivable are loans provided 
under the FFELP and are guaranteed. 

Management estimates that approximately $94.2 million or about 13% of the outstanding 
balance of student loans receivable is due within one year for 2014.  Management estimated 
that approximately $86.7 million or about 11% of the outstanding balance of student loans 
receivable was due within one year for 2013.  Generally, student loans are structured with a 
ten-year repayment period.   
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(5) Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity, year ended June 30, 2014: 

  Balance      Balance 

  July 1, 2013  Additions  Deletions  June 30, 2014 

Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated:         

Land $     1,011,520 $                - $               - $        1,011,520 

 Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated       1,011,520                 -                -         1,011,520 

         

Capital Assets, Being Depreciated:          

Building, Building Equipment and         

  Improvements      5,828,735        517,275                  -          6,346,010 

Furniture and Fixtures         645,723  
  

48,151                  -             693,874 

Data Processing Hardware      1,627,479      155,402     (100,154)          1,682,727 

Data Processing Software      2,938,633      181,160  
                -
(450,000)          2,669,793 

Vehicles         111,017                 -       -             111,017 

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated    11,151,587     901,988    (550,154)        11,503,421 

         

Less Accumulated Depreciation:         

Building, Building Equipment and         

  Improvements     (1,981,390)    (217,670)                  -        (2,199,060) 

Furniture and Fixtures        (584,435)      (57,537)                  -           (641,972) 

Data Processing Hardware     (1,305,769)    (157,077)      100,154        (1,362,692) 

Data Processing Software     (2,395,681)  
  

(102,320)                  -        (2,498,001) 

Vehicles        (111,017)               -       -             (111,017) 

Total Accumulated Depreciation     (6,378,292)    (534,604)      100,154          (6,812,742) 

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated, Net      4,773,295  367,384   
   

(450,000)         4,690,679 

         

Capital Assets, Net $     5,784,815 $    367,384 $ 
   

(450,000) $        5,702,199 
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Capital asset activity, year ended June 30, 2013: 

  Balance      Balance 

  July 1, 2012  Additions  Deletions  June 30, 2013 

Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated:         

Land $     1,011,520 $                - $               - $        1,011,520 

 Total Capital Assets, Not Being Depreciated       1,011,520                 -                -         1,011,520 

         

Capital Assets, Being Depreciated:         

Building, Building Equipment and         

  Improvements      5,791,650       37,086                  -          5,828,735 

Furniture and Fixtures         645,723                 -                  -             645,723 

Data Processing Hardware      1,838,584      161,178  
   

(372,283)          1,627,479 

Data Processing Software      2,900,993      37,640    -          2,938,633 

Vehicles         154,700                 -  
   

(43,683)             111,017 

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated    11,331,650     235,904    (415,966)        11,151,587 

         

Less Accumulated Depreciation:         

Building, Building Equipment and         

  Improvements     (1,778,234)    (203,156)                  -        (1,981,390) 

Furniture and Fixtures        (523,170)      (61,265)                  -           (584,435) 

Data Processing Hardware     (1,554,108)    (123,404)  
   

371,743        (1,305,769) 

Data Processing Software     (2,323,153)      (72,528)                  -        (2,395,681) 

Vehicles        (154,700)                 -  
   

43,683           (111,017) 

Total Accumulated Depreciation     (6,333,365)    (460,353)  
   

415,426        (6,378,292) 

Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated, Net     4,998,285    (224,450)     (540)         4,773,295 

         

Capital Assets, Net $   6,009,805 $    (224,450) $    (540) $      5,784,815 
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Depreciation expense, segregated by classification, is as follows: 

  

 Year Ended Year Ended 
 June 30, 2014 June 30, 2013 

Building and Building Improvements $      217,670 $          203,156

Furniture and Fixtures 57,537 61,265

Data Processing Hardware 157,077 123,404

Data Processing Software 102,320 72,528

  Total Depreciation Expense $     534,604 $          460,353

 

(6)     Long-term Liabilities  

 Long-term liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2014:   

  *Balance      Due Within  Balance 

  June 30, 2013  Increases  Decreases  One Year  June 30, 2014 

Bonds Payable $  814,895,000 $                       - $  (43,632,000) $ (69,800,000) $        701,463,000 

Bond Premium    8,861,205                      -       (2,393,628)    (2,393,628)            4,073,949 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $ 
  

823,756,205 $  - $ (46,025,628) $ (72,193,628) $       705,536,949 

 
Long-term liabilities for the year ended June 30, 2013: 
 

  *Balance      Due Within  Balance 

  June 30, 2012  Increases  Decreases  One Year  June 30, 2013 

Bonds Payable $    881,480,000 $ 
  

257,950,000 $ (324,535,000) $ (22,760,000) $   792,135,000 

Bond Premium        11,254,833                       -       (2,393,628)      (2,393,732)         6,467,473 

Reserve for Excess Earnings       141,081                     -     (141,081)                        -             - 

Total Long-Term Liabilities $       892,875,914 $ 
                      
257,950,000 $ (327,069,709) $ ( 25,153,732) $    798,602,473 

*Beginning balance includes current portion of long-term liabilities. 
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Student Loan Revenue bonds activity and balances by bond issue for the year ended June 30, 2014: 

    Bonds  Issued/  Bonds 
 Interest Rate   Outstanding  (Retired)  Outstanding 

Bond Issue Range Maturity Range  June 30, 2013   FY 2014  June 30, 2014 

2001 Series A-1  3.75% 9/1/2031            6,250,000     -          6,250,000 

2002 Series A-2 3.80% 11/1/2032            5,850,000   -            5,850,000 

2003 Series A-2           3.80% 9/1/2033            10,000,000   -        10,000,000 

2004 Series A-1 3.875% 4/1/2034            11,650,000      -          11,650,000 

2007 Series A Variable 4/1/2037           64,400,000                  -        64,400,000 

2009 Series B & C 3.90% to 4.10% 9/1/2014-9/1/2020           219,445,000                        -       219,445,000 

Series 2010-1                Variable-3.50% 12/1/14-12/1/38           145,500,000  
   

(12,100,000)       133,400,000 

Series 2010-2 Variable 12/1/20-12/1/38           127,600,000  (12,800,000)       114,800,000 

Series 2013-1 Variable 1/2/25  
  

224,200,000  (18,732,000)       205,468,000 
         

             814,895,000   (43,632,000)       771,263,000 
2009 Series A, B & C and 2010-1 Bond 
Premium               8,861,205    (2,393,628)          6,467,577 

   $          823,756,205 $   (46,025,628) $      777,730,577 

 
As of June 30, 2014,  interest rates for the variable bond issues are as follows:   2007 Series 
A1-.360%; 2007 Series A2 (taxable) .32035%; 2010 Series A-2 .87735%, 2010 Series A-3 
1.42735%,  Series 2010-2-A-1 .97465%, Series 2010-2-A2 1.52735%, Series 2010-2-A3 
1.38735% and Series 2013-1(taxable) A-1 .8510000%. 

 
       Student Loan Revenue bonds activity and balances by bond issue for the year ended June 30, 2013: 

    Bonds  Issued/  Bonds 
 Interest Rate   Outstanding  (Retired)  Outstanding 

Bond Issue Range Maturity Range  June 30, 2012  FY 2012  June 30, 2013 

2001 Series A-1 3.75% 9/1/2031 $         19,015,000 $     (12,765,000) $         6,250,000 

2002 Series A-2 3.80% 11/1/2032          38,950,000    (33,100,000)           5,850,000 

2003 Series A-2           3.80% 9/1/2033          42,300,000    (32,300,000)           10,000,000 

2004 Series A-1 3.875% 4/1/2034        71,950,000    (60,300,000)           11,650,000 

2007 Series A Variable 4/1/2037        174,620,000    (110,220,000)          64,400,000 

2009 Series B & C 3.90% to 4.10% 9/1/2014-9/1/2020        219,445,000                    -         219,445,000 

Series 2010-1 Variable – 3.50% 12/1/14-12/1/38  168,200,000  (22,700,000)  145,500,000 

Series 2010-2 Variable 12/1/20-12/1/38        147,000,000     (19,400,000)         127,600,000 

Series 2013-1 Variable 1/2/25        -     224,200,000        224,200,000 

   $       881,480,000 $ (66,585,000) $        814,895,000 

2009 Series A, B & C and 2010-1 Bond Premium          11,254,833      (2,393,628)           8,861,205 

   $    892,734,833 $ (68,978,628) $        823,756,205 
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As of June 30, 2013,  interest rates for the variable bond issues are as follows:   2007 Series A1-
.360%; 2007 Series A2 (taxable) .36910%; 2010 Series A-2 .92465%, 2010 Series A-3 
1.47465%,  Series 2010-2-A-1 .97465%, Series 2010-2-A2 1.57465% and Series 2010-2-A3 
1.43465% and Series 2013-1 (taxable) A-1 .96659%. 

         

Interest is payable on a semi-annual basis except for certain taxable bonds which are 
monthly and the 2010-A-2 and A-3, 2010-2-A-1, A-2 and A-3 which are paid quarterly.  
Depending on the bond, principal is payable annually or at specified times during the bond 
maturity period. All bonds are secured as described in the applicable bond resolutions. 
Related purchased and financed student loans and investments secure the bonds. 
 
Principal maturity and interest requirements on bonds payable are as follows: 
 

                                                          June 30,2014   

  Year  Bond Principal  Bond Interest 

       

  2015 $        69,800,000 $     16,199,634 

  2016         62,895,000        13,996,673 

  2017         66,500,000        11,507,913 

  2018        50,750,000      9,490,741 

  2019         31,440,000      8,188,768 

  2020-2024       76,005,000      30,700,350 

  2025-2029       196,443,000       21,193,596 

  2030-2034         33,750,000      16,750,223 

  2035-2038       183,680,000      7,622,397 

      $      771,263,000 $   135,650,295 

 
 
Bond interest for the variable bond issues was calculated using the Securities Industry and 
Financial Market Association (SIFMA), and the London Inter-Bank Offer Rate (LIBOR) 
rates as of June 30, 2014 (see bonds activity schedules for lists of variable rates at June 30, 
2014). 

 
In accordance with the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and related 
regulations, retainable earnings from non-purpose investments related to the Foundation’s 
tax-exempt bond issues, generally, are limited to the bond yield of the related bond issue. 
The bond indentures require NMEAF to make annual arbitrage calculations to determine if 
investments of excess bond proceeds are earning rates of interest in excess of the bond 
yield. Such amounts, if any, are required to be set aside in arbitrage rebate accounts for 
each bond issue. The balance in the arbitrage rebate accounts may increase or decrease 
annually (but not below zero) based on interest rates earned on the investments provided by 
the bond financing. At the end of each five-year period over the life of the bonds, NMEAF 
is required to remit any positive arbitrage rebate liability amount to the federal government. 
Based on the most recent calculation as of May 1, 2014, there are no arbitrage rebate 
liabilities. 

 
Similarly, student loan income on all tax-exempt bond issues that may be retained by 
NMEAF in order to fund operations is limited to the bond yield plus an allowable spread, 
ranging from 1.50% to 2.00%. The excess earnings liability is computed on an annual basis. 
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The excess earnings reserve can be used over time to forgive principal and/or interest on 
financed student loans or on other programs that would effectively reduce the Foundation’s 
yield. Amounts not used in this manner are required to be paid to the federal government at 
the end of each ten-year period and at final maturity of the related bond issues.  Based on 
the most recent calculations as of May 1, 2014 and 2013, there are no excess earnings 
liabilities.   
 
In May 2013 the Foundation issued $257,950,000 in bonds.  Proceeds plus other funds 
totaling $167,285,000 were used to refund existing debt issues.  These proceeds, included 
in Bonds Payable in the accompanying financial statements, will mature at January 2, 2025.  
The refunding transactions decreased the cash flow requirements related to the refunded 
amounts by approximately $44.8 million at an economic gain (difference between the 
present values of the old and new debt service payments) of $12,401,568.  The refunding 
by outstanding series was as follows:  
 

2013-1 A-1 Bonds (issued May, 2013)
Issue Size $257,950,000 ($56,915,000 in Supplemental Reserve) 

Principal Amount of Refunded Bonds $167,285,000 

Refunded Issue  Refund Amount 
Senior Series 2002A-1 $ 13,900,000 

   Senior Series 2003A-1    4,750,000 
   Senior Series 2003A-2  6,850,000 
   Senior Series 2004A-1  2,700,000 
   Senior Series 2004A-2  13,300,000 
   Senior Series 2004A-3  8,850,000 
   Senior Series 2007A-1  73,220,000 
   Senior Series 2007A-2  37,000,000 
   Senior Series 2001B-1  6,715,000 

 $ 167,285,000 
 
    

Principal Amount of  Bonds Converted and Reoffered $33,750,000 

Refunded Issue  Refund Amount 
                Senior Series 2001A-1 $ 6,250,000 

   Senior Series 2002A-2    5,850,000 
   Senior Series 2003A-2  10,000,000 
   Senior Series 2004A-1  11,650,000 

 $ 33,750,000 
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(7)    Derivative Instrument 
 

(a) Summary 
 
At June 30, 2014, NMEAF had the following derivative instruments outstanding: 

 
 

Type 
 Notional 

Amount 
Effective 

Date 
Maturity 

Date 
 

Terms 
  

Fair Value 

Receive Fixed 
Interest Rate Swap 

 
 

$ 

 
 
  86,000,000 9/22/2010 11/28/2025 

Floating Monthly 
LIBOR Rate 
Spread +.699% 

 
 

$     6,446,877

Receive Fixed 
Interest Rate Swap 

 
 

$ 219,445,000 9/16/2009 9/1/2020 

Receive 3.075% 
pay daily average 
3 Month LIBOR 

 
 
   12,271,071

  Total Fair Value  $   18,717,948

 
     
 
 
 
      At June 30, 2013, NMEAF had the following derivative instruments outstanding: 
 
 

Type 
 Notional 

Amount 
Effective 

Date 
Maturity 

Date 
 

Terms 
  

Fair Value 

Receive Fixed 
Interest Rate Swap 

 
 

$ 

 
 
  86,000,000 9/22/2010 11/28/2025 

Floating Monthly 
LIBOR Rate 
Spread +.699% 

 
 

$   5,295,945

Receive Fixed 
Interest Rate Swap 

 
 

$ 219,445,000 9/16/2009 9/1/2020 

Receive 3.075% 
pay daily average 
3 Month LIBOR 

 
 
   15,436,053

  Total Fair Value  $   20,731,998

 
   
 
 

It was determined that these derivative instruments did not meet the criteria for hedge 
effectiveness, therefore the decrease in the fair value of $2,014,050 and $11,720,149 is 
reported as investment revenue for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013.  The fair value 
of the interest rate swaps were estimated based on the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows. 
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 (b)    Risks 
 

Credit risk 
The counter party to these interest rate swaps is Royal Bank of Canada.  The credit ratings 
for Royal Bank of Canada are Aa3 (long term) and P-1 (short term) by Moody’s Investor 
Service and AA and F1+ by Fitch Ratings. 

 
NMEAF’s policy is to require counterparty collateral posting provisions in its derivative 
instruments.  The terms of this interest rate swap require full collateralization in an asset 
position net of the effect of netting arrangements should the counterparty’s credit rating fall 
below A2 and P-1 as issued by Moody’s Investor Service and A and F1 as issued by Fitch 
Ratings.  Collateral posted is to be in the form of Cash, U.S Treasury or Agency Securities. 

 
The fair value of these interest rate swaps represent the maximum loss that would be 
recognized at the reporting date if the counterparty failed to perform as contracted.   

 
Interest Rate Risk 
The Foundation is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest rate swaps.  As LIBOR 
increases, NMEAF’s net payment on the swaps increases. 

 
(8)      Contractual Arrangements   

 
  NMEAF has certain contractual arrangements as follows: 

 
(a) The New Mexico Student Loan Guarantee Corporation 

 
The Corporation's primary purpose is to guarantee, on behalf of the ED, the repayment of 
eligible student loans made by participating lenders to residents of New Mexico and 
students who attend New Mexico educational and vocational institutions under the FFELP. 
Under terms of a service agreement, NMEAF provides office space and administers and 
performs certain duties and functions for the Corporation, subject to the direction of the 
Corporation's officers and board of directors. These duties and functions were provided by 
the Foundation for a board-approved fixed fee of $488,580 and $524,100 based upon 
estimated costs for the Corporation's years ended September 30, 2014 and 2013, 
respectively.  

 
(b) Servicing Fees 

 
NMEAF has agreements whereby it provides various legal, servicing, collections and 
financial aid support services to other in-state education-related institutions, the private 
lending community and the New Mexico Student Loan Guarantee Corporation. The 
education-related institutions include the University of New Mexico, New Mexico 
Highlands University, New Mexico Military Institute, Northern New Mexico College, New 
Mexico Institute of Mining and Technology, St. Johns College, and Central New Mexico 
Community College.  The servicing contracts were moved to the NMSLGC effective 
October 2013.  The Foundation also provides collection activity through contract sources 
for the New Mexico Higher Education Department. 

 
 



NEW MEXICO EDUCATIONAL ASSISTANCE FOUNDATION 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 

 

 
 - 35 -

Fees earned under agreements to service various student receivables, which are assets or 
responsibilities of the education-related institutions, were $88,195 and $352,230 for the 
years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, respectively.   

 
(9)   Defined Contribution Plan 

 
The Foundation maintains a Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (the Plan). Participation 
in the Plan is available to employees regularly scheduled to work 1,000 hours or more in a 
computation period.  Eligibility begins on the first day of the month following the 
completion of 30 days of employment. Each eligible participant is required to contribute a 
minimum of 3.5% of his or her pay to the Plan. The Foundation contributes 7% of the 
participant's compensation when the participant contributes the minimum percentage to the 
Plan. Vesting in the Foundation contributions occurs on a step schedule as follows: 1 year 
0%, 2 years 25%, 3 years 50%, 4 years 75%, and 5 years 100%. A participant receives a 
year of service for vesting purposes if he/she completes 1,000 hours in an anniversary year 
and he/she is employed on the last day of the anniversary year. If the participant terminates 
before the date of full vesting, the non-vested amount of the participant's account is 
forfeited and used by the Foundation to reduce its Plan contributions for the next year. The  
Foundation may terminate this Plan at any time, and all participant accounts would become 
100% vested. The Foundation does not intend to terminate the Plan at this time. For the 
years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, The Foundation's contribution was $291,795 and 
$327,328, respectively. 

 
 (10) Related Parties 
 

The Foundation’s board of directors is made up of 5 members.  The Foundation no longer 
requires regents of post-secondary schools to be represented on the Board, but does require 
two Board members to represent educational institutions, because NMEAF no longer 
originates or disburses student loans.  In addition, the State Treasurer and two members 
representing financial institutions are required members of the Board. 
 
The Foundation has bank deposits and letters of credit with certain financial institutions; 
officers of one or more of these financial institutions are members of the Foundation’s 
board.  The Foundation also processes and services student loans for and for some of the 
state higher education institutions, private colleges and community colleges.  If discussion 
and action by the Foundation board of directors specifically involves an entity to which an 
individual board member has any ties, that board member must abstain from voting on that 
decision.   
 

 (11)     Commitments and Contingencies  
 

(a) Litigation Matters 
 

NMEAF is involved in various legal actions incident to its operations that, in the opinion of 
management and the Foundation's legal counsel, will not materially affect the Foundation's 
financial position or results of its operations.  
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(b) Department of Education Reviews 

 
The ED periodically performs site visits of the Foundation. The purpose of site visits is to 
review the Foundation's compliance with the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended, 
and the regulations under the FFELP with respect to the Foundation's originating, servicing 
and collecting of student loans under this program.  The ED conducted an audit covering 
the period of January 1, 2006 through September 30, 2010 and issued a “Final Program 
Review Determination” on April 25, 2012 indicating no significant findings.   

 
 Years ending after September 30, 2010 are still open for review by the ED. 

 
         (c) Risk Management 

 
NMEAF is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and 
destruction of assets, errors and omissions, injuries to employees, and natural disasters. The 
Foundation carries commercial insurance to cover losses related to such risks to which it 
may be exposed. 
 
(d) Lease Commitments  

 
During the year ended June 30, 2014, the Foundation leased a backup and recovery site for 
its data processing facilities.  The operating lease was entered into on May 20, 2003 as an 
occupancy and services agreement for provision of disaster recovery functions.  Currently, 
the monthly minimum recurring charge associated with this agreement is $2,700, with an 
initial term of 36 months. The term automatically renews for one year, unless the lessee or 
lessor notifies the other party within thirty days that it does not wish to renew. 

 
NMEAF leases its internal telecommunications system.  This operating lease was entered 
into on October 26, 2010 for a 48-month term at a minimum monthly amount of $7,557.  
This lease will end on June 30, 2015.    

 
The Foundation leases its Copier/Printing Equipment from Xerox.  This operating lease was 
entered into on June 10, 2012 for a 12-month term at a minimum monthly amount of $454.   
This term automatically renews unless the lessee or lessor notifies the other party within 
thirty days that it does not wish to renew. 

 
NMEAF leases its mail stream solution system. This lease was entered into on November 
20, 2011 for a 36-month term at a minimum monthly amount of $578.   

 
The total expense relating to these lease commitments included on the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position as General and Administration – Other 
Expense for the years ended June 30, 2014 and 2013 was $183,192 and $180,808, 
respectively.  

 
The total future minimum lease expense commitment under the above leases is expected to 
be $68,266. 
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(e)  Special Allowance Revenue 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2014 and 2013, Independent Auditors completed agreed-
upon procedures engagements of the 9.5% floor according to Department of Education’s 
specifications.  The June 30, 2014 report was completed without findings. 

 
(f)  Mandatory Redemptions 
 
In addition to scheduled maturities, mandatory redemptions are required in series 2013-1 
A-1, 2001 A-1, 2002 A1 and A-2, 2003 A-1 and A-2, 2004 A-1 through A-3, 2010-1 A-2 
and 2010-2 A-1 and A-3.  The amount of these redemptions is determined on a quarterly 
basis (monthly for the 2013 series), according to the availability of cash not already 
earmarked for expenses and debt service.  Budgeted mandatory redemptions are included as 
short-term bonds payable in the amounts of $68,573,628 and $25,153,732 as of June 30, 
2014 and 2013, respectively. 

 
(g)  Voluntary Closing Agreement Program 
 
In March of 2012, the IRS announced the TEB (Tax Exempt Bond) Voluntary Closing 
Agreement Program (VCAP) Relief from Allocation and Accounting Errors for Certain 
Issuers of Tax-Exempt Student Loan Bonds.   This VCAP was open from April 2nd to July 
31st, 2012 to any issuer that decided they may have transactions in their bond issue(s) 
history that were conducted in a manner counter to  the current IRS application of the TEB 
regulations. 

 
NMEAF filed a Request for Closing Agreement under this VCAP.  A closing agreement 
has been reached with the IRS resulting in the payment on February 27, 2013 of a fee of 
$3,392,300 and no other liability. 
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  Federal   
  CFDA   

Federal Agency  Number  Expenditures 
U.S. Department of Education direct:    

 Federal Family Education Loan Program - Lender  84.032-L  

 Interest Subsidies   
$           6,756,122

    

U.S. Department of Education pass-through:    

 New Mexico State Department of Higher    

  Education – College Access Challenge Grant  84.378                329,609 

Total expenditures of federal awards   
$ 7,085,731
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                                    Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
 
NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION 

 
The New Mexico Educational Assistance Foundation (NMEAF) dba New Mexico Student Loans 
was organized under the laws of the State of New Mexico on July 1, 1981, as a quasi-
governmental, not-for-profit organization for the purpose of improving the educational 
opportunities of the residents of New Mexico and students who attend New Mexico post-
secondary educational institutions.  NMEAF’s primary purpose is to provide a program for 
making, financing, holding and purchasing federally insured educational loans.  NMEAF also 
services loans and provides administrative support and other services for in-state educational and 
lending institutions; federal financial aid programs; and the New Mexico Student Loan Guarantee 
Corporation (NMSLGC), a quasi-governmental, not-for-profit entity designated to operate as a 
guarantee agency under the Federal Family Education Loan Program (FFELP). 

 
 

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

a. Basis of Presentation 
 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes all federal 
assistance to NMEAF that had activity during 2013.  This schedule has been prepared on the 
accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded for financial reporting purposes when 
NMEAF has met the qualifications of the respective program.  The accompanying schedule 
of expenditures of federal awards (the “Schedule) includes the federal grant activity of 
NMEAF under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2014.  The 
information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Office of 
Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and 
Non-Profit Organizations.  Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the 
operations of NMEAF, it is not intended to and does not present the financial positions, 
changes in financial position or cash flows of NMEAF. 

 
b. Federal Financial Assistance 

 
NMEAF receives interest subsidies on behalf of eligible students during qualified periods and 
special allowance on all qualifying loans.  To receive payments of interest subsidies and 
special allowance, NMEAF must submit quarterly reports to the U.S. Department of 
Education.  Effective for loans first disbursed April 1, 2006 and later, special allowance 
calculations that result in a negative dollar amount must be returned to the U.S. Department 
of Education.  These amounts are net in the accompanying schedule. 
 
Funds provided by the College Access Challenge Grant Program (CACG) through the New 
Mexico Department of Higher Education were used as part of a collaborative local effort to 
assist underrepresented students by preparing them to further their educational and 
professional goals.  NMEAF charged expenses to the New Mexico Department of Higher 
Education according to the budgeted and established goals of this program. 
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NOTE 3. STUDENT LOAN NOTES 
 

The U.S. Government pays NMEAF interest on eligible Stafford loans from the date of 
acquisition until the end of the grace period.  In addition, for certain eligible loans, a special 
allowance is paid at the end of each quarter, which represents supplemental interest on 
outstanding insured loans.  The special allowance is calculated using an annual rate, which is 
determined periodically and is based on the average interest rate for 91-day U.S. Treasury Bills, 
or the average 3-month commercial paper rate.  Effective April 1, 2012, the Foundation elected to 
waive the 3-month commercial paper rate in favor of the 1-month LIBOR rate. 

 
Student loan notes originated or purchased by NMEAF have been guaranteed by the NMSLGC 
and reinsured by the U.S. government, provided applicable program requirements have been met 
by the original lender or NMEAF with respect to such loans.  Guaranteed Student Loans 
Receivable, under Federal Family Education Loan Program (CFDA # 84.032-L) of is 
$711,633,127 at June 30, 2014.  NMEAF did not originate any loans under Federal Family 
Education Loan Program during the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2014. 
 
Effective for loans first disbursed April 1, 2006 and later, special allowance calculations that  
result in a negative dollar amount must be returned to the U.S. Department of Education.  These 
amounts resulted in a special allowance repayment to the U.S. Department of  Education of 
$16,589,833 for the year ended June 30, 2014. As the amounts repaid  result in a negative 
amount, they have been excluded from the accompanying Schedule of  Expenditures of Federal 
Awards. 
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REPORT	OF	INDEPENDENT	AUDITORS	ON	INTERNAL	CONTROL	OVER	
FINANCIAL	REPORTING	AND	ON	COMPLIANCE	AND	OTHER	MATTERS	BASED	ON	

AN	AUDIT	OF	FINANCIAL	STATEMENTS	PERFORMED	IN	ACCORDANCE	
WITH	GOVERNMENT	AUDITING	STANDARDS	

	
	
	
The	Board	of	Directors	
New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	
	
	
We	 have	 audited,	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 auditing	 standards	 generally	 accepted	 in	 the	
United	States	of	America	and	the	standards	applicable	to	financial	audits	contained	in	Government	
Auditing	 Standards	 issued	 by	 the	 Comptroller	 General	 of	 the	 United	 States,	 the	 financial	
statements	of	New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	 (the	 “Foundation”),	 as	 of	 and	 for	
the	year	ended	June	30,	2014,	and	the	related	notes	to	the	financial	statements,	which	collectively	
comprise	 the	 New	Mexico	 Educational	 Assistance	 Foundation’s	 basic	 financial	 statements,	 and	
have	issued	our	report	thereon	dated	October	15,	2014.		
	
Internal	Control	Over	Financial	Reporting	

In	planning	and	performing	our	audit	of	the	financial	statements,	we	considered	the	Foundation’s	
internal	control	over	financial	reporting	(internal	control)	to	determine	the	audit	procedures	that	
are	appropriate	 in	 the	circumstances	 for	 the	purpose	of	expressing	our	opinion	on	the	 financial	
statements,	 but	 not	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 expressing	 an	 opinion	 on	 the	 effectiveness	 of	 the	
Foundation’s	 internal	control.	Accordingly,	we	do	not	express	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	
the	Foundation’s	internal	control.	

A	deficiency	 in	 internal	 control	exists	when	 the	design	 or	 operation	 of	 a	 control	 does	not	 allow	
management	 or	 employees,	 in	 the	 normal	 course	 of	 performing	 their	 assigned	 functions,	 to	
prevent,	 or	 detect	 and	 correct,	 misstatements	 on	 a	 timely	 basis.	 A	 material	 weakness	 is	 a	
deficiency,	 or	 a	 combination	 of	 deficiencies,	 in	 internal	 control	 such	 that	 there	 is	 a	 reasonable	
possibility	that	a	material	misstatement	of	the	entity's	financial	statements	will	not	be	prevented,	
or	 detected	 and	 corrected,	 on	 a	 timely	 basis.	 A	 significant	 deficiency	 is	 a	 deficiency,	 or	 a	
combination	of	deficiencies,	 in	 internal	control	 that	 is	 less	severe	 than	a	material	weakness,	yet	
important	enough	to	merit	attention	by	those	charged	with	governance.	

Our	consideration	of	internal	control	was	for	the	limited	purpose	described	in	the	first	paragraph	
of	this	section	and	was	not	designed	to	 identify	all	deficiencies	 in	 internal	control	that	might	be	
material	weaknesses	or	significant	deficiencies.	Given	these	 limitations,	during	our	audit	we	did	
not	 identify	 any	 deficiencies	 in	 internal	 control	 that	 we	 consider	 to	 be	 material	 weaknesses.	
However,	material	weaknesses	may	exist	that	have	not	been	identified.	
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The	Board	of	Directors	
New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	
	
	
Compliance	and	Other	Matters	

As	part	of	obtaining	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	 the	Foundation’s	 financial	 statements	
are	free	from	material	misstatement,	we	performed	tests	of	its	compliance	with	certain	provisions	
of	 laws,	 regulations,	 contracts,	 and	 grant	 agreements,	 noncompliance	with	which	 could	 have	 a	
direct	 and	 material	 effect	 on	 the	 determination	 of	 financial	 statement	 amounts.	 However,	
providing	an	opinion	on	compliance	with	those	provisions	was	not	an	objective	of	our	audit	and,	
accordingly,	we	do	not	express	such	an	opinion.	The	results	of	our	tests	disclosed	no	instances	of	
noncompliance	 or	 other	 matters	 that	 are	 required	 to	 be	 reported	 under	 Government	 Auditing	
Standards.	
	
Purpose	of	this	Report	

The	purpose	of	 this	 report	 is	 solely	 to	describe	 the	 scope	of	our	 testing	of	 internal	 control	 and	
compliance	and	the	results	of	that	testing,	and	not	to	provide	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	
the	entity’s	internal	control	or	on	compliance.	This	report	is	an	integral	part	of	an	audit	performed	
in	accordance	with	Government	Auditing	Standards	in	considering	the	entity’s	internal	control	and	
compliance.	Accordingly,	this	communication	is	not	suitable	for	any	other	purpose.	

	
Albuquerque,	New	Mexico	
October	15,	2014	
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REPORT	OF	INDEPENDENT	AUDITORS	ON	COMPLIANCE	FOR	THE	MAJOR	FEDERAL	
PROGRAM	AND	REPORT	ON	INTERNAL	CONTROL	OVER	COMPLIANCE	

REQUIRED	BY	OMB	CIRCULAR	A‐133	
	
	
	

The	Board	of	Directors	
New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	
	
	
Report	on	Compliance	for	the	Major	Federal	Program	
	
We	 have	 audited	 New	 Mexico	 Educational	 Assistance	 Foundation’s	 compliance	 with	 the	 types	 of	
compliance	requirements	described	in	the	OMB	Circular	A‐133	Compliance	Supplement	that	could	have	a	
direct	 and	 material	 effect	 on	 the	 New	 Mexico	 Educational	 Assistance	 Foundation's	 major	 federal	
program	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 June	 30,	 2014.	 New	 Mexico	 Educational	 Assistance	 Foundation's	 major	
federal	program	is	identified	in	the	summary	of	auditor's	results	section	of	the	accompanying	schedule	
of	findings	and	questioned	costs.	
	
Management’s	Responsibility	
	
Management	 is	 responsible	 for	 compliance	with	 the	 requirements	 of	 laws,	 regulations,	 contracts,	 and	
grants	applicable	to	its	federal	programs.	
	
Auditor’s	Responsibility	
	
Our	 responsibility	 is	 to	express	an	opinion	on	compliance	 for	 the	New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	
Foundation's	 major	 federal	 program	 based	 on	 our	 audit	 of	 the	 types	 of	 compliance	 requirements	
referred	 to	 above.	 We	 conducted	 our	 audit	 of	 compliance	 in	 accordance	 with	 auditing	 standards	
generally	 accepted	 in	 the	 United	 States	 of	 America;	 the	 standards	 applicable	 to	 financial	 audits	
contained	in	Government	Auditing	Standards,	issued	by	the	Comptroller	General	of	the	United	States;	and	
OMB	Circular	A‐133,	Audits	of	States,	Local	Governments,	and	Non‐Profit	Organizations.	Those	standards	
and	OMB	Circular	 A‐133	 require	 that	we	 plan	 and	 perform	 the	 audit	 to	 obtain	 reasonable	 assurance	
about	whether	noncompliance	with	the	types	of	compliance	requirements	referred	to	above	that	could	
have	a	direct	and	material	effect	on	a	major	federal	program	occurred.	An	audit	includes	examining,	on	a	
test	 basis,	 evidence	 about	 New	 Mexico	 Educational	 Assistance	 Foundation's	 compliance	 with	 those	
requirements	and	performing	such	other	procedures	as	we	considered	necessary	in	the	circumstances.	
	
We	 believe	 that	 our	 audit	 provides	 a	 reasonable	 basis	 for	 our	 opinion	 on	 compliance	 for	 the	 major	
federal	program.	However,	our	audit	does	not	provide	a	legal	determination	of	New	Mexico	Educational	
Assistance	Foundation's	compliance.	
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The	Board	of	Directors	
New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	
	
	
Opinion	on	the	Major	Federal	Program	
	
In	our	opinion,	New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	complied,	in	all	material	respects,	with	
the	types	of	compliance	requirements	referred	to	above	that	could	have	a	direct	and	material	effect	on	of	
its	major	federal	program	for	the	year	ended	June	30,	2014.	
	
Report	on	Internal	Control	Over	Compliance	
	
Management	 of	 New	 Mexico	 Educational	 Assistance	 Foundation	 is	 responsible	 for	 establishing	 and	
maintaining	 effective	 internal	 control	 over	 compliance	 with	 the	 types	 of	 compliance	 requirements	
referred	 to	 above.	 In	 planning	 and	 performing	 our	 audit	 of	 compliance,	 we	 considered	 New	Mexico	
Educational	Assistance	Foundation's	 internal	 control	 over	 compliance	with	 the	 types	of	 requirements	
that	 could	have	a	direct	and	material	 effect	on	each	major	 federal	program	 to	determine	 the	auditing	
procedures	 that	 are	 appropriate	 in	 the	 circumstances	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 expressing	 an	 opinion	 on	
compliance	for	each	major	federal	program	and	to	test	and	report	on	internal	control	over	compliance	in	
accordance	 with	 OMB	 Circular	 A‐133,	 but	 not	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 expressing	 an	 opinion	 on	 the	
effectiveness	 of	 internal	 control	 over	 compliance.	 Accordingly,	 we	 do	 not	 express	 an	 opinion	 on	 the	
effectiveness	of	New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation's	internal	control	over	compliance.	
	
A	deficiency	 in	 internal	control	over	compliance	exists	when	 the	design	or	 operation	of	 a	 control	 over	
compliance	 does	 not	 allow	 management	 or	 employees,	 in	 the	 normal	 course	 of	 performing	 their	
assigned	 functions,	 to	 prevent,	 or	 detect	 and	 correct,	 noncompliance	 with	 a	 type	 of	 compliance	
requirement	 of	 a	 federal	 program	 on	 a	 timely	 basis.	 A	 material	 weakness	 in	 internal	 control	 over	
compliance	is	a	deficiency,	or	a	combination	of	deficiencies,	in	internal	control	over	compliance	such	that	
there	is	a	reasonable	possibility	that	material	noncompliance	with	a	type	of	compliance	requirement	of	a	
federal	 program	 will	 not	 be	 prevented,	 or	 detected	 and	 corrected,	 on	 a	 timely	 basis.	 A	 significant	
deficiency	in	internal	control	over	compliance	is	a	deficiency,	or	a	combination	of	deficiencies,	in	internal	
control	over	compliance	with	a	type	of	compliance	requirement	of	a	federal	program	that	is	less	severe	
than	a	material	weakness	in	internal	control	over	compliance,	yet	important	enough	to	merit	attention	
by	those	charged	with	governance.	
	
Our	consideration	of	internal	control	over	compliance	was	for	the	limited	purpose	described	in	the	first	
paragraph	 of	 this	 section	 and	 was	 not	 designed	 to	 identify	 all	 deficiencies	 in	 internal	 control	 over	
compliance	 that	 might	 be	 material	 weaknesses	 or	 significant	 deficiencies.	 We	 did	 not	 identify	 any	
deficiencies	in	internal	control	over	compliance	that	we	consider	to	be	material	weaknesses.	However,	
material	weaknesses	may	exist	that	have	not	been	identified.	
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The	Board	of	Directors	
New	Mexico	Educational	Assistance	Foundation	
	
	
The	purpose	 of	 this	 report	 on	 internal	 control	 over	 compliance	 is	 solely	 to	describe	 the	 scope	 of	 our	
testing	of	internal	control	over	compliance	and	the	results	of	that	testing	based	on	the	requirements	of	
OMB	Circular	A‐133.	Accordingly,	this	report	is	not	suitable	for	any	other	purpose.	

 
Albuquerque,	New	Mexico	
October	15,	2014	
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Section	II	‐	Financial	Statement	Findings	
	
None	reported	
	
	
	

Section	III	‐	Federal	Award	Findings	and	Questioned	Costs	
	
None	reported	
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Section	I	‐	Summary	of	Auditor’s	Results	

Financial	Statements	

Type	of	auditor’s	report	issued:	 Unmodified			

Internal	control	over	financial	reporting:	

 Material	weakness(es)	identified?	 	 Yes	 	 No	

 Significant	deficiency(ies)	identified?	 	 Yes	 	 None	reported	

Noncompliance	material	to	financial	statements	noted?	 	 Yes	 	 No	

Federal	Awards	

Internal	control	over	major	federal	programs:	

 Material	weakness(es)	identified?	 	 Yes	 	 No	

 Significant	deficiency(ies)	identified?	 	 Yes	 	 None	reported	

Type	of	auditor’s	report	issued on	compliance	for	major	
federal	programs:	 Unmodified	

Any	audit	findings	disclosed	that	are	required	to	be	reported	
in	accordance	with	section	510(a)	of	Circular	A‐133?	 	 Yes	 	 No	

Identification	of	Major	Federal	Program	

CFDA	Number	 Name	of	Federal	Program	or	Cluster	

84.032‐L	 Federal	Family	Education	Loan	Program	‐	Lender	

Dollar	threshold	used	to	distinguish	between	type	A	and	type	
B	programs:	 $	 300,000	

Auditee	qualified	as	low‐risk	auditee?	 	 Yes	 	 No	

	

Section	II	‐	Financial	Statement	Findings	
	
None	reported	
	
	
	

Section	III	‐	Federal	Award	Findings	and	Questioned	Costs	
	
None	reported	
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